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Author’s Note


This book describes the lives of three twentieth century women, a first generation immigrant thrust into the disruption of World War, a product of the ‘swinging sixties’, and a modern girl born and brought up in adversity. It explores their attitudes to the woman’s place in society, their gender roles, their careers and their families.


The story is told against a backdrop of modern history, the three lives being inextricably entwined with major national and international events as well as some almost forgotten minor ones.


All of the major characters are fictional, as are their personal events, though of necessity, historical figures are unchanged.
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1940    Enemy Aliens



The tall, handsome young man stood at the top of the grass mound that is Primrose Hill in North London. He had a sombre expression, in keeping with his black, Brylcreemed hair and dark suit. The city glistened in the summer sunshine. It was a beautiful day, the date; 10th June 1940. Enrico Bellini however, was all darkness as he composed himself for the dreadful moment ahead.


After what seemed an age, he straightened, walked the short distance to his restaurant and up the stairs to his private quarters, where Rosanna his wife sat on the floor, building houses of toy bricks with their daughter Maria.


As he entered the room, he paused and regarded his wife. ‘Bellissima!’ This vibrant young wife, so warm, so loving, so intelligent, seemed to Enrico to be a wonderful gift from God, one he often felt he did not deserve, but for which he would always be grateful. She smiled as she always did, but the smile faded quickly as she noticed his expression. ‘What is it Caro?’ she asked. ‘You look frightened!’


He sat down in his chair and drew her towards him, still kneeling and rested his head on hers. ‘It is as we feared, my love’, he whispered. ‘We may have managed to evacuate the troops from Dunkirk, but today Mussolini has declared war on Britain.’ He paused for the enormity of this news to register with her. She said nothing, but her body stiffened which told him that she completely understood.


‘This means that we Italians have suddenly become enemy aliens here. I think we may be interned, or at least I may be. They say that women and children will not be arrested, but we shall see if that is true. Rumours, rumours, everywhere is rumours!’ His exasperation broke over him and he sat back in order to be able to look her directly in the eye. His right hand repeatedly thumped his thigh in despair and frustration. ‘I fear we might lose everything we have worked for over the past ten years.’


They stared at each other, absorbing the import of their situation. Little Maria, aged five watched them, knowing that something was wrong, but not understanding how important this was to all of them.


In 1930, Enrico and Rosanna had fled fascist Italy after Mussolini’s cronies had beaten Enrico severely because he had protested at their treatment of his neighbour. The thugs had torn Jacob’s wife’s blouse from her and shaved her head in front of the frail old man. They then held Jacob himself under water in his own farmyard water butt, until it seemed he must drown. But they were distracted by Enrico who, in response to the commotion, came running out of the little trattoria in which he waited at table, yelling to the villagers for help as he ran across the road. The thugs paused long enough to viciously punch and kick him for his trouble, before riding away with Jacob’s prize pony. All this was because Jacob was a Jew. Even the beautiful hills around Lake Orta were no longer safe from these gangs who were little better than bandits. Jacob had not died, but he left for America on the next boat. He visited Enrico in hospital where he was recovering from his injuries, advising the young man to do the same, ‘You must run Enrico! You resisted them so they will come back for you!’ he cried. A little while later, home from hospital watching Jacob’s cart pull away at the start of their emigration, he recalled the old man’s words. Even though Enrico was a good Catholic, not a Jew, he guessed that Jacob would be right. Enrico never recovered the sight of his left eye.


Rosanna came from a region in the North East, near the little town of Bardi, marrying Enrico there in 1926. She had been a receptionist in the hotel in Verona, whilst Enrico was a waiter. Both had some training as chefs. They had pursued a classically long courtship among the wonders of Verona with its Roman Amphitheatre, its opera festival, and the tourist attraction of Romeo and Juliet. These same tourists, coming from all over the world, needed to be housed and fed, so catering for them was a major industry in Verona. Enrico and Rosanna therefore learned their business very well and were quite accomplished by the time they married.


Behind the glamour of tourism however Italy was not happy with itself. At the time it was divided politically into Fascist and Anti-Fascist elements, the former believing in strong authoritative, single party government. The Fascists fought on the Allied side in World War 1 and enjoyed some support in the upper echelons of European society. The problem was that they sought to stifle any individual entrepreneurs or non conformist individuals, and were quite prepared to back their will with violence. Small business men, those in the arts, academics, and professional people came to fear them. They were particularly strong in the towns, especially large towns with employment problems and poverty. It was for this reason that Enrico had taken his new bride home to Orta, high in the Italian lake district, perhaps the most beautiful and restful place in the world. There, they felt free of this sort of unrest; free, that is, until the gangs came.


The gangs consisted mostly of frustrated, testosterone laden young men without jobs, who blamed the rest of the world for their own problems, and were encouraged to do so by their leadership. Everything that was wrong was somebody else’s fault, especially the paucity of jobs. The Jews were seen as unfairly successful in business, and so the party became extremely anti- Semitic, a creed that allied them to Hitler’s Nazis in Germany. At that time Italy was poor, and was struggling to feed its people. They were making babies much faster than they were producing food to feed them. Indeed, the most important export of Italy by far was not goods, but human beings.


And so the young Enrico and Rosanna Bellini had made their way to London, chosen because there were good relations between Italians and the British, and because Rosanna’s elder brother Andreas ran a grocery in Rosebery Avenue, part of Clerkenwell, London’s ‘Little Italy’. Once in London, Enrico had worked as a waiter until an uncle died and left him some money. With this he opened his restaurant in Primrose Hill, just on the junction of Primrose Hill and Regents Park Road. Rosanna gave birth to little Maria in 1935. His restaurant became popular with the celebrities of north London and life was very good. They loved the cafe culture of Primrose Hill, and enjoyed nothing more than walking as a family across the enormous expanse of grass so close to their home, and, from there, surveying the great city before them. The population was so cosmopolitan that they never felt themselves to be foreign. Now, suddenly, at the stroke of some bureaucrat’s pen they were enemy aliens in the country they had adopted and loved.


They spent the rest of that day planning how they might keep the business going without Enrico. Most of the men had been called up or had volunteered to fight, so they relied on the women that had been left behind. But in some ways this was a blessing, for the ladies were dependable, knew how to run a kitchen and made a good team.


The police came at four the following morning. They were very polite, making it quite clear that they were not enjoying carrying out their instructions, but the new Prime Minister Mr Churchill had decreed that all Enemy Alien men must be rounded up and placed in camps. Enrico was given 10 minutes to pack a bag of belongings and to say farewell to his tearful wife and daughter. Then he disappeared into the night, not knowing where he was being taken.


Mr Churchill had a big problem. There were about 80,000 so called Enemy Aliens and so few places to corral them. Many were Jews who had fled Nazism, Italians who had fled Mussolini’s Fascism, or Germans, who were often senior academics or contributors to the arts world. Many were of advanced years and others had spent almost all of their lives in Britain. Few could be described as a risk. All were rounded up. There was a general fear of a so called Fifth Column, an enemy within the gates, and Churchill was determined to take no chances.


They were categorised into three groups. A was a small group of about 600 people thought to be high risk. B was a group thought to be medium risk. This was by far the largest contingent. Category C people were considered to be of very slight risk and were eventually allowed to remain free. Enrico, being young and energetic was considered to be a B risk. He was herded onto a train and taken with many of his compatriots to Warth Mills, in Bury, Lancashire. The buildings formed an old industrial site with no furniture and few facilities. Even before the men arrived it was overrun with vermin. Conditions quickly became intolerable and overcrowding extreme. Other large camps had been established in the north of the country. One was at Huyton, Liverpool, and was on a half completed large council estate. Here each unfinished small house, often littered with builder’s rubble, would be occupied by twelve men; some were obliged to sleep in hastily erected tents in the gardens. Treatment was not good, and there was considerable hardship.


Enrico had not long arrived in Warth Mills when he was hailed loudly and, turning to see who knew him, found his brother in law, Andreas, who had also been rounded up. They embraced warmly and decided to share quarters. ‘How is Rosanna?’ asked Andreas.


‘She is very well, and I think very strong also.’ said Enrico. ‘I feel sure that if any woman can manage she will. But I do worry about how she will run the restaurant and look after your niece, Maria.’


‘Don’t you have any friends or neighbours?’ Andreas asked.


‘Yes, of course we do, I expect the Greeks next door will help. He has his old mother living with them and they are not being treated as enemies,’ Enrico replied.


‘It’s all the fault of that madman, Mussolini. If I could put my hands on him he would not last long’. Andreas, one of the world’s gentler souls, was a very large and powerful man and for a moment Enrico smiled wryly at a mental image of the dictator held, squirming, in the air, by this man.


They went on talking about Andreas’ life in Clerkenwell. Although he was older than Rosanna he had never married, saying that he had not found anyone as good as his Mother, which was perhaps true, thought Enrico. Italian men tend to idolise their mothers in a way the British would never understand.


Evidently ‘Little Italy’ was very upset with the British Government about the round up. Their venom was particularly bitter against Mr Churchill. Most of the inhabitants of those streets had lived in London for many years and had come to occupy important and respected niches in the capital’s life. There were lawyers, doctors, hotel managers, shop keepers, ice cream makers, and restaurateurs in abundance. Andreas reported that there had been a very large attendance at St Peter’s Italian Church in Clerkenwell for Mass on the evening of the announcement of internment. The mood was an odd mix of piety, acceptance and anger, but most of all, that of a community gathered together in adversity. The two men envisaged the unnatural quiet that the absence of so many would create. Enrico was kept only a week or so in Warth Mills and then taken to the docks for transportation on ‘The Lady of Man’ to the Isle of Man. There he found himself in camp M in the town of Peel. Camp M being a collection of Victorian houses at the end of the Promenade which had been surrounded by barbed wire. Here conditions were much better than on the mainland. Overcrowding was still a problem, but they were not ill treated and the main issue for busy intelligent minds was boredom. The internees quickly organised activities designed to keep them busy and to prevent the unrest they knew would come with so many men, all crammed together. In a very short time catering and cleaning rosters were established. Within two or three weeks educational and sporting activities had been organised and a primitive system of social support was in place.


Letters were allowed, but females were not allowed into the camp. Women and children were not interned. Perhaps the government still had bad memories of the British Concentration Camps in the Boer War decades previously, in which thousands of the women and children of the Dutch farmers in South Africa had died, not of actual maltreatment, but mostly of poor nutrition and sanitation, bringing disaster through neglect and disease.


Back in London, the government became concerned that such a mass of men that had been rounded up could not satisfactorily be housed on mainland Britain. Churchill negotiated with Canada to send many Enemy Aliens there. A ship was chartered to take them across the Atlantic. Many of those men were taken from Warth Mills just a week or so after Enrico had been moved away to Peel.


The SS Arandora Star, once a Caribbean cruise liner left Liverpool on 1st July 1940, carrying 1,200 of the 8,000 Enemy Aliens deported from Britain at that time. At about eight o’clock the morning of 2nd July she was torpedoed, just off Ireland, and sank in 30 minutes. She was painted grey and was not flying a Red Cross ensign. It was thought that the German U boat considered her to be a naval vessel. Of the 1600 men on board 800 prisoners, crew and soldiers died. Some were German Jews, among them some senior scientists who would have been very helpful to the war effort. Others were non Jewish Germans, both pro and anti- Nazi. The Italians had been housed on a lower deck and could not escape. 485 of the 700 Italians drowned. Fifty were from the little Italian town of Bardi, population 2700, Rosanna’s home. One of them was Rosanna’s brother Andreas.


In August 1940 a summer storm washed hundreds of bodies ashore from the Arandora Star, a few were identified, but many were not, their graves unnamed along the coast of northwest Ireland.
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1940    Evacuation



Rosanna was both tired and sad. She was doing much of the cooking in the restaurant because her main cook had slipped off the edge of a pavement on the way home a week ago and broken her ankle. Such injuries were common now that there were no street lights and all the windows were blacked out. It was fine to walk home on a moonlit night, but the restaurant worked until ten in the evening, so if the night was cloudy, the streets were very dark indeed. Clara had fallen on just such a night. She clearly would not be back at work for a couple of months.


Old Mrs Mikolos from next door had agreed to sit with Maria whilst the restaurant was open so that Rosanna could keep an eye on things and do some cooking herself. In fact, Rosanna took her turn at all of the jobs including mopping the floors. In order to open at noon it took several hours of work just to clean the place and prepare vegetables.


And that was another problem; food was getting scarce, just as the business was becoming busier than ever. The government had introduced rationing right at the beginning of the war, but not on restaurant meals. Primrose Hill, being in an affluent area, not too far from central London was a good place to run a restaurant. Hungry Londoners, who could afford it, ate out more than they used to. She was busy, oh so very busy, and she missed Enrico very much indeed. They had always been a touching, loving pair, and she missed her night time hug.


And then there was Andreas. Andreas, the big brother, who went to church on Sunday, had never done any harm to anyone, who worked hard, paid his taxes and was liked by everyone, but who died because of a piece of paper saying that he was born in Bardi, Italy; died because this stupid government thought he might be a threat and sent him to the bottom of the sea without even a proper burial or goodbye. Rosanna knew that Clerkenwell’s ‘Little Italy’ was very angry indeed and would never truly forgive.


‘Oh God,’ she raged in her thoughts, ‘Why Andreas? What have we done to deserve this?’ But, whilst such angry thoughts tore at her very being, she had to remain smiling and pleasant to all, because, after all, she was an enemy alien too, and she knew that, in some parts, shops and restaurants belonging to Italians and Germans were the subject of vandalism and riots. It did not seem likely in the cosmopolitan atmosphere of Primrose Hill, but she was aware she must not provoke hostility, come what may, especially now she was on her own. But when the hours of dark arrived and she lay in her lonely bed, the evil thoughts took control and she experienced both anger and distress the depth of which had hitherto been unknown to her. Consequently she was hollow-eyed and found it very difficult to dress each morning: Maria’s childhood smiles and chirpy laughter often rescued her from the throes of real depression.


In fact, apart from Maria, the only good thing about life was that the bank balance was growing faster than ever before. Fewer staff, with the waitresses earning a little less per head than their absent male counterparts, and many more meals being served, had made the restaurant a little gold mine.


But, little Maria was being very difficult, throwing tantrums and was uncharacteristically disobedient. Rosanna knew that this was her fault, not Maria’s. A six year old is right to expect her Mamma’s attention, especially with Papa missing too. Rosanna had to admit that recently she had been preoccupied running the business and that Maria’s company was not as high a priority as it should have been. The walks on the hill had almost been abandoned, and the book at bedtime only seemed to happen on Sundays when the restaurant was closed. Still, Mrs Mikolos seemed to be very fond of her and there had been a big increase of drawing and writing recently, so maybe Maria was not suffering as much as she feared. She was also learning a lot about ancient Greece and its role in civilising the World. It always amused Rosanna to think that London has more Greek Cypriots than Nicosia, but then, if Italy had continued to send her children away, the same might soon have been said of Italy too.


As she cleaned the front step of the restaurant that morning in the first week of September she noticed a few brown leaves and thought. ‘Autumn has come early this year’. On her knees, polishing the brass threshold with her bottom waving in the air in time with each swing of her arm, she jumped when it was rudely pinched in a very Italian manner. Turning her head in outrage and straining against the sun to see who could be so cheeky she saw a thin, bearded man. It took a brief moment only to realise it was Enrico, standing there with his tired old suitcase beside him and with a grin big enough to drive a bus in.


He swept her into his arms and off her feet, carrying her upstairs to celebrate his homecoming in a proper manner, despite the hour being just about ten in the morning. Afterwards she asked him by what miracle he had come home. ‘I think that Whitehall is reacting to the bad publicity of the Arandora Star sinking’ he said. ‘I was called to a tribunal much earlier than I expected, and because I have been here ten years and had come because of the injuries the Fascist thugs gave me, they decided that I should be reclassified. I am now a C and at liberty! So here I am, just 12 weeks after I left.’


The Bellini family’s rejoicing was to be cruelly short lived, for on the very next day, Saturday September 7th 1940 Hitler threw the Luftwaffe at London in earnest. 364 bombers, protected by 515 fighters crossed the Channel to attack the Port of London. Just 41 British Hurricanes rose from the home shores to face them. The attack began in the late afternoon, and was followed by a further 133 bombers that night. They did not really need pathfinders for the fires could be seen many miles away. Nonetheless many bombs fell on residential districts so that by the next morning 436 Londoners were dead and 1,668 injured.


Some planes completely missed the target area and dropped their bomb loads indiscriminately. One fell close to the Bellini home in Primrose Hill and shook the house severely. Plaster dust covered Maria’s bed, but the anxious parents noted that she slept through as if nothing was happening. Later, Enrico stood on the hill and watched the city burn. It was an awesome sight.


Weeks previously the so called Battle of Britain had begun, the Royal Air Force doing battle with the might of the German Luftwaffe, mostly in so called dog fights between fighters, and often over the English Channel. Several attempts by Goering’s air force to destroy the British radar early warning stations had not made much difference to the British efficiency in locating the invaders just long enough before they arrived to rush the defence planes into the air. Thus was coined the word ‘scramble’, an apt description of the rapid deployment of fighter aircraft to meet the enemy. The British fought bravely in their Spitfires and Hurricanes, winning the fight at a ratio of two to one, but they were being bled to death by the simple arithmetical weight of numbers and by September had lost over two hundred fighter pilots. Attacks on the south coast airfields, especially on August 18th, the so called ‘Hardest Day’, had severely weakened the British capability.


For this reason, when Goering turned his attention to civilian targets and brought large flights of bombers across the channel, the decision was made to oppose them in small numbers only. Encouraged by the lack of opposition Goering increased the size of his bombing raids to enormous numbers; at times several hundred aircraft packed the sky like a swarm of angry bees.


But the British were not beaten. Goering had made a major misjudgement in turning from the air fight to destroy the civilians whilst the RAF still had men and machines. The painful interlude was used to full effect. Airfields and planes were repaired and men transferred, so that by September 15th, the British were ready. It was a beautiful late summer’s day with bright sunshine and excellent visibility, except for some early autumnal fog. Air Vice Marshall Keith Park, a New Zealander, commanding 11th Squadron sent his Spitfires up to dive out of the sun onto the German fighters, distracting them from protecting the bombers, who droned on towards the mainland cities. There they met Douglas Bader’s 10th Squadron of Hurricanes who harried and burned them all day. One hundred and seventy six German planes were shot down by the RAF and a further nine by anti aircraft barrage. Just twenty three British planes were lost. That day became known as The Day of Reckoning. Churchill was at the command centre in Uxbridge during the day, and as he left, muttered to his companion, ‘Never in the field of human conflict was so much owed by so many to so few.’ It was a foretaste of his famous parliamentary speech a few days later.


Hitler continued his bombardment of Britain until May 1941, by which time 43,000 civilians had been killed, half of them in London, and a million homes had been destroyed, but never did the intensity equal that first few weeks. Hitler had been warned that any invasion would be a disaster unless the skies were clear of allied aircraft. Although he apparently accepted that advice he nonetheless prepared the invasion. Firstly planned for October 1940, then for December 1940, then finally consigned to history.


However, none of this was known in London at the time. On Monday the education authorities and the government decided that children should be evacuated as soon as possible and sent to safer parts of the country. The rationale of course was that children are an investment in the future. There had been a similar edict in September 1939, but the long silence of the so called Phoney War led to most children returning to their homes. Enrico and Rosanna agreed to the Evacuation Scheme and signed the documents. Maria came back from school one evening with a note requiring her to go to school next day with a small suitcase of personal clothing and toilet articles, her gas mask and, if possible, a stick of barley sugar, which was intended to ease the hunger of a long and uncertain journey. She did not know where she was going, but promised to write as soon as possible. She was not yet seven years of age. Children under school age were evacuated with their mothers. Those of school age could take their mothers with them, but, of course, many mothers could not go. Rosanna was one of these because of the demands of the business.


A tearful Rosanna took her to school next morning and stood alongside all the other mothers waving whilst a fleet of buses took the children away. Nobody seemed to know where they were going. Each of the children was labelled just like a postal package. Each was experiencing a torrent of emotions, fear being uppermost but excitement also. In keeping with the times, behaviour was excellent though there was some sobbing.


Maria’s bus took her to Paddington Station in West London where she and her school friends joined a great number of other children for the journey, which was to take them through Reading and then, south of Bath via Westbury, to Taunton in Somerset. Taunton had no strategic value and was not a town of any special historic or architectural interest. In fact it was distinguished by its very lack of distinction, except that it is one of England’s more peaceable places. That is of course, precisely why it was chosen.


At the station they all stood in line whilst a billeting officer called them one by one to meet the families who had agreed to take them in. They made a sorry spectacle, some of them already thin, many lacking warm clothing, some already covered with sores from impetigo, which had been painted with a purple antiseptic. Maria was pleased when the sweet boy, named Walter, who had travelled with her all the way, and who smelt horribly of stale urine, was led away by a cheerful lady and a short bald man, who seemed to call everyone ‘My Dear.’ An expression she had never heard before, but one which would become quite familiar in the next few years.


But, at the end of the wait, there seemed to be nobody to collect Maria. Eventually the billeting officer himself turned to her and said. ‘Young lady it looks as if I am to take you home with me.’ And with that he lifted Maria’s case and led her to a large but elderly motor car which was parked in the station yard.


They drove out of the town and along a main road for about five miles before turning left onto a side road. Quite soon they were going up a drive to a very large house where Mr Lloyd, as everyone called him, helped her down and took her inside to meet his wife.


There were several children in the house and Maria came to understand that Mr Lloyd was in the habit of picking up the strays who had, for whatever reason, not been collected. Failure to collect was not uncommon, especially among the better off, because the receiving host families who had promised support for the scheme, quite often made their own arrangements with family or friends of family, and the officials had failed to remove their names from the list. Fortunately Billeting Officers were often well to do, public spirited men, prepared to pick up the pieces. So it was that Maria began an entirely new and not altogether unwelcome or unpleasant life. Her lodging was delightful, her hosts quietly authoritative, but very kind and caring. There was good company of her own age.


There was a great shortage of school places, and indeed of school teachers, since most of the male teachers had been called up to fight. The village school at West Buckland was overcrowded despite the fact that nearby a special school for evacuees had been opened. Eventually a place for Maria was found in a small village called Nynehead. The school was very old fashioned but the teaching was remarkable. Maria did not know that this tiny establishment boasted the best primary school results in Somerset. She stayed with Mr Lloyd’s family for the remainder of the war. There, she learned about the countryside, about farming, and about animals and birds. She gained a love of dogs and horses, and understood the seasons for the first time. Importantly, as a restaurateur’s daughter, she learned where food came from.


A great sense of freedom came when she learned to ride a bicycle, and Enrico sent the money to buy one of her own. This enabled her to ride around the almost empty country lanes, sometimes with the other children, but often quite alone. Nobody seemed to mind. Nobody thought for a moment that this was unsafe. She saw very little of the war, except one day there was a fight between aeroplanes in the sky above, which they called a dog fight. One German plane came down, but the pilot parachuted safely. He was caught by the Home Guard, a uniformed army of local men too old to go and fight. There was great excitement about this in the community.


But, perhaps most of all she learned about the British. Her London home had been so cosmopolitan that the ordinary residents of these islands were not commonly to be seen, at least not in the particular gentility that pervaded that home in Somerset. Mr Lloyd and his wife were wonderful examples of civilised, well educated folk. Yet, like many of their sort, they were not snobs and treated everyone with the same degree of respect. Maria learned from the housekeeper that when they went to their church there was no singing, and quite often there was nothing at all, not even reading from the scriptures. Maria, used to the pomp of Mass in a great London church, thought this very odd. She had never heard of Quakers.


At the little school she shared a desk with a tall farm boy called Harry. At first she could hardly understand him, because of his strong Somerset accent. They became very good friends except that he had an alarming tendency to pull her pigtails; not hard really, but enough to be uncomfortable. It took her a long time to realise that this was a form of affection. This friendship was very important because some of the local children were not altogether kind to the evacuees, especially ones with foreign names. Harry was her protector during the awkward initial term. He lived very close by, so a lot of time was spent on the farm looking at the animals, learning about milk and eggs, cows and chickens, and even bulls and geese, though these she treated with great care. Harry’s mother would take a huge pan of milk and put it to simmer very slowly on the great stove, until all the goodness had risen to the top, and was skimmed off to be served as clotted cream. She made the butter too, in a big churn in the dairy. The cows were milked by hand and had to be fetched twice a day from the fields to the milking parlour. Before she returned to London Maria had become quite adept at doing this.


There was a massive shire horse called Ben, who used to pull farm implements and carts for Harry’s father. Ben was so huge as to appear like a house to little Maria, but she was encouraged to pat him and eventually found the courage to do so. When she knew him well he would come and nuzzle her for some titbit such as a carrot that she took to hiding in a pocket, ready for just this. Ben became Maria’s first real animal friend,


Of course, living in dairy country, rationing was not so great a problem as in the towns, but the only fruit available was what they grew themselves, and many houses had turned their lawns into vegetable patches, so that they could produce all their vegetables at home. There were no bananas or pineapples. Clothes were a problem though, especially for a girl living as she did, coming home muddy and bramble torn from her romps on the farm. The whole country was beginning to look dowdy, living on ‘hand me downs’. Fortunately Mr Lloyd was better placed than most since his business made cloth.


Academically she did very well. Miss Elson the headmistress believed in learning by rote, so Maria was very soon able to recite her tables and then to do sums in her head. She enjoyed reading to the point that Mrs Lloyd learned to check every night that she had in fact settled to sleep or she might have read all night.


Gradually she lost her puppy fat and became quite tough, a strong runner capable of keeping up with the boys. She bicycled everywhere, to school, to the farm and back to the great house. Sometimes, with her friends, she would cycle out of the valley onto the surrounding hills, where there was a great monument to a previous war.


Maria was returned her to her real parents in 1945 a very different person; one who knew how to behave, how to converse and most importantly how to think for herself. It was many years before Maria appreciated that her happy experience of being an evacuee was not shared by all. Some three million people, mostly children were evacuated in World War Two, perhaps the biggest migration in modern history. Many had wonderful experiences like Maria, but sadly about 12% reported problems, ranging from social difficulties to abuse of all sorts. Part of this stemmed from cultural differences. Many of the evacuee children were from very poor urban communities and had no notion of hygiene, or of manners. Many had never had a bath. Large numbers had no soles to their boots, which were just uppers tied on. Toilet behaviour was a major problem. They had not seen clean sheets or an eiderdown, had never sat up to table to eat, did not know how to hold knives and forks, and seemed to speak a foreign language. It was hardly surprising that traditional, rural England tried to absorb them but reeled under the impact.


Back in Primrose Hill, Maria’s parents, reunited, but grieving over their absent daughter, faced life in a city in turmoil. Enrico, despite the demands of the restaurant, joined the ARP (Air Raid Precaution) service as a warden, one of almost a million citizens to do so. He patrolled Primrose Hill at night wearing his black helmet with a large W on its forehead, sealing lights that were potentially visible to the sky, helping people to air raid shelters and guiding emergency services to sites where there might be survivors of a bomb. Central government recommended portable prefabricated shelters called Morrison, or Anderson shelters, which folk erected in their gardens or in cellars within their houses. In London some 172,000 people sought safety from the bombs in tube stations, which were not really suitable for the purpose, often becoming horribly insanitary as a result. On his ‘patch’ there were some purpose built larger public shelters. In April 1941 one of these took a direct hit. When Enrico forced his way in over the rubble, he found some 70 people all sitting, almost as if nothing had happened, but all dead from the blast.


And then in May 1941, suddenly, there was no raid, no fire, no death. They waited night after night for the bombers to return but they did not, at least not in a major way. The RAF had won. There would be no invasion. Hitler, running short of fuel and with no natural oil supply, had turned his eyes eastwards, to Russia, seeking to annex the great oil fields lying on the other side of the Volga River, beyond Stalingrad. Londoners had a two year respite, until the rockets of 1944 began to rain upon them.


Rosanna watching her husband exhaust himself working both day and night, resolved to make things as easy for him in the business as she could. She took on all of the financial management and proved so good at it that they found themselves becoming quite well off, even rich. Their customers were people of good connection and large wallets, so it was little surprise when one of them whispered in Rosanna’s ear that a famous restaurant in Soho, the new centre of Italian interest in London, was coming on the market. He recommended they think about buying it, maybe in partnership with him. They agreed, becoming proud owners of Bellini’s in Wardour Street in 1944.


At the end of April 1945 they thought it safe enough for Maria to return to them in Primrose Hill. They still lived over the original restaurant, because they just loved the neighbourhood. They waited for the train to pull into Paddington but could hardly recognise this young lady, so grown up and so composed. Rosanna wept for joy as she hugged her daughter, but the tears also fell for all the years of Maria’s childhood that she had missed. When she spoke they found she had lost her domestic Italian accent; none remained, just a correct, rather formal English, tinted with a hint of the long brown vowels of the West Country. Maria missed the great house and the farm, especially Harry and Ben, but she was very glad to be at home with her very own Mamma and Papa. She settled back into the household quickly and easily, making an especial fuss of Mrs Mikolos next door.


And so it came about that on May 8th 1945 a greying, slightly rotund 45 year old Enrico, wearing a large Hunter watch over his prosperous ampleness, stood in The Mall with his still glamorous, vibrant 38 year old wife, and their 11 year old daughter; ‘the enemy aliens’, as enthusiastically part of the madly excited crowd as any native, waving to the King and Queen on their victorious Buckingham Palace balcony, Later they walked back through Piccadilly to the Soho restaurant for ‘one hell of a party’ with their many friends.
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1946    Canons



Dr Kathleen Anderson riffled through the pile of papers on her desk. She was filling her mind with information about some four hundred and fifty girls who wished to come to her school. Just seventy would be successful in their application, and Kathleen Anderson was acutely aware that the process of selection was perhaps the most important act of the year for her, in her role as headmistress of The North London Independent Collegiate School for Girls (or NICS as it was inappropriately known).


The school had been founded in Camden by the great Victorian champion of female education Frances Mary Buss, immortalised by the verse ‘Miss Buss and Miss Beale Cupids darts do not feel’. It started in 1850 in Frances Buss’s own home but quickly grew both in numbers and reputation until, in the 1930s, the school had moved to the Duke of Chandos’ house, ‘Canons’, in Edgware. The magnificent buildings, set in a large acreage of fabulous grounds quickly became perhaps the finest girls’ day school in England. The list of alumni was indeed impressive, including a comprehensive array of academics, sporting personalities, celebrities and senior politicians.


Kitty Anderson had been appointed headmistress in 1944, a difficult time in war torn Britain. Staff were not young, materials were hard to come by, and the school needed to increase its numbers and its facilities rapidly to stay in its pole position in the educational firmament. That depended significantly upon maintaining and indeed improving the expected academic standards, which was why this new, dynamic headmistress, who would become almost as much a legend as the school founder, was being so very diligent over selection.


The selection process at NICS was a little unusual for its time. Of course there were academic papers appropriate for eleven year olds but in addition there were very extensive interviews with senior members of staff, who were looking for the tell tale markers of true excellence, a fine mind and an independence of spirit. This of course involved the ability to discuss, even debate, issues with the best minds the staff had to offer. After all, these girls would eventually be the movers and shakers of the world, and must therefore be nurtured in that atmosphere from the start. This is not to assume that the school was some sort of tropical plant house for blue stocking girls. It was nothing of the sort. In fact it was reassuringly normal and human, treading the line between good order and free expression, and between self awareness and awareness of others. Dr Anderson wanted above all for her girls to be human beings not automatons.


Being situated in close proximity to the metropolis, the applicants, even in 1946, came from a variety of cultures and religions, with many languages being spoken. Catholics met with Protestants, Jews and Muslims in a great soup of intellect.


Their examination was not the more accepted Common Entrance exam used at aged thirteen by many private schools, but a searching exploration of talent, designed to identify real potential. Although fees were high, the applicants were by no means restricted to the upper classes of British Society. Successful middle class business people, émigrés, even some very bright children from less affluent families, sponsored by scholarships, moved cheek by jowl with the old money of the British Establishment. Providing the fees were paid, the elite nature of the school rested upon ability, not upon family.


After the written papers, about one in four of the candidates were shortlisted for interview, and of these a little more than half were accepted. So, of the original cohort only about 15% were successful. The interview stage was critical and very tense for all concerned, not least the staff and headmistress. Today was the last day of interviews and Kitty had a very good idea by now where they were heading. Some seventy girls had already been identified as outstanding, but there remained another ten to interview. If two or three of those were of the highest calibre, they would be oversubscribed, and a further pruning through staff room discussion would be needed. Quite obviously there would be debate and, perhaps, some heated argument between the examiners this evening, because a few really bright students would lose out in the competition. Kitty encouraged this debate, although the final decision would, of course, be hers. It was her practice always to be the last person to interview the likely candidates. Everyone knew that she was the last hurdle in the process.


She selected one of the papers from the pile in front of her, and read it with increasing interest before walking to her door and into the sitting room outside. Three eleven year olds were sitting in the soft chairs pretending to be relaxed. ‘Which of you is Maria Bellini?’ She asked in a neutral tone.


A smartly dressed, dark haired girl with Mediterranean features stood and nodded, saying ‘I am Maria, Dr Anderson.’


‘Good morning Maria, do come with me,’ said the headmistress, shaking her by the hand and then leading her by the elbow into the inner room. Once there, they sat opposite one another in front of the fireplace, a low coffee table between them. Kitty eschewed the formality of sitting at her desk, with the image of power that always comes from that.


She started by asking about Maria’s family, and of course about her wartime experiences. She was already in possession of one of the best examination papers in a particularly good year, so was fascinated to learn that Maria’s early education had mostly been in a village school in rural Somerset. When she learned about the evacuation household, and the milking of the cows, followed by a bicycle ride home in all weathers, she realised that she had a very determined young person of considerable strength of character. She also noted the finely honed sporting body.


She probed the Italian family background and eventually came around to asking about the experience of being regarded as enemy aliens in Britain. ‘It was not very good, Dr Anderson. My family had been here for ten years. I was born here. We have a restaurant business you know in Primrose Hill.’


‘Yes, I do know Maria. I have eaten there myself.’


They smiled at each other at this exchange.


‘Well, Papa was sent away early in the war, not for long. But it was very upsetting for Mamma, especially because my Uncle Andreas was drowned on the Arandora Star, which was a ship carrying immigrants considered to be at risk to the British during the war. It was torpedoed on its way to Canada.’


‘Yes, I remember it very well. We were all sad about that tragedy. I imagine it was not well received in your community.’


‘No it wasn’t and some of the older ones are still angry about it.’


‘What do you think yourself Maria?’


There was a pause, and a wrinkled forehead before Maria replied. ‘Well, it was cruel, and Andreas was a lovely man who had done no harm to anyone. But I understand that it was not intended, and that the government did need to make sure the country was safe. I also understand that some of the men had to go abroad. So, to me it was just a terrible accident and I do not blame anyone.’


‘Does your Mother agree with you?’


‘I think her head does, but her heart does not. She is still very angry and very sad.’ Another pause. ‘But you know, she thinks herself to be British now. She has worked here for sixteen years, having escaped those nasty people in Italy. She has very many friends, and feels that she belongs. I laugh at her sometimes, because she is more British than the British.’


‘I am quite sure she does belong, and am glad she thinks so too Maria.’ Kitty said quietly, thinking that her recent exchange showed a maturity and understanding which would fit very well in the school.


A few days later, a formal letter arrived in the Bellini home offering Maria a place at North London Independent Collegiate School. She started there the following September and blossomed in that environment. She showed excellent social skills, probably from her upbringing, living over a highly fashionable eating house and meeting the customers. She proved very adept at natural sciences and languages, as well as singing a lusty soprano in the school choir. But perhaps it was on the sports side that she most excelled. At a time when girls did not embrace running very enthusiastically, she became the winner of the school cross country at sixteen, and was encouraged to join an adult athletic club of national standing.


Of her friends and contemporaries, a staggering forty nine per cent went on to university, and many filled very prominent roles thereafter. This was at a time when only three per cent of the populace went to university, and only ten per cent of those were girls. Years later Dr Kathleen Anderson became Dame Kitty Anderson, perhaps the foremost educator of her day.
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1954    The Interview



Maria entered the hospital through the casualty doors, as, it seemed, did many others, since there was a great deal of activity with people coming and going in all directions.


The nurses wore a confusing variety of uniforms; the younger, apparently junior ones, were dressed in a pin stripe pink and white with a small cap and a heavily starched apron, kept in place by a wide black belt which had a splendid buckle. The belt gave them a figure enhancing sensuality, made more so by the rustle of stiff under slips.


The more senior nurses wore exactly the same uniform, but in pale blue and white, and with a wonderful royal blue Maltese cross pinned to their bosom. These were staff nurses and the cross proclaimed them to be fully fledged Nightingales, as the nurses from St Thomas’ were known all over the world. A few, more senior still, were in plain blue dresses. These were known as charge nurses, and were the deputies to the matriarch of a hospital ward or department, the sister in charge. The word ‘sister’, Maria thought, with her Catholic upbringing, was probably a residue from the time when Nuns would do nursing work. The sister in Casualty was quite little and was dressed in a grand navy blue dress with white dots on it. Her hat was much larger, adding several inches to her diminutive frame. One had the impression that this sister was not to be trifled with.


Working with the nurses were a few young men with full length white coats whom Maria wrongly took to be doctors because many of them sported a stethoscope around their neck. Actually the junior resident doctors wore white jackets not full length coats. Maria’s young men were medical students. There were injured people sitting on benches in the department, and a considerable number of cubicles screened by curtains. Prominent in the room was a large metal tank which hissed all the while. She had no idea what that was for but it felt very threatening.


Passing through into the hospital main corridor she was taken aback at the very size of the place. The corridor seemed to go on for miles, an impression which, though far from true, stemmed from the fact that it did indeed stretch about half of the way from Westminster Bridge to Lambeth Bridge. The old hospital had been built in seven huge high buildings, each one larger than many provincial hospitals of the time. They were linked by smaller office blocks, canteens, outpatient departments, operating theatres etc. The whole was embellished with Victorian architectural features which, though not very attractive, imparted a sense that the whole thing was a grand palace, as was fitting for its position directly across the river from Parliament and Big Ben.


About half way down this thoroughfare there was a great open space with a very high ceiling and with panelled walls covered with portraits of famous surgeons and physicians of the past. This was the Governors Hall, home of the head porter and his team who in reality kept the whole place running. The whole effect was so overwhelming in its grandness that Maria quailed, fearing that the whole idea of being a student here was a great mistake.


The Dean’s Office was on the main corridor close to this grand concourse, and so it was with trepidation that she pushed open the door and walked to the desk at which was seated a woman not much older than herself.


The Dean’s Secretary, for this is who she was, looked up from her desk as Maria approached and beamed a very bright reassuring smile. ‘Good afternoon and welcome to St Thomas’, Miss Bellini,’ she said. ‘You are a little early and they are running a few minutes behind time, but never mind. There is a comfy seat over there. You will find reading matter to occupy you.’


Maria stammered her thanks and went to sit in the generous sofa indicated. She was quite unbalanced, both by the warmth of her reception, and because the secretary knew who she was, without her having to announce herself. Later she learned that this girl memorised the photographs of every applicant and every student, along with their personal details, so that everyone felt they had a friend in the Dean’s Office, which indeed they did.


As she sat absorbing her surroundings, she became aware she was not alone in the waiting area. A young man was studying her intently from the other side of the room. She smiled at him and he smiled shyly in return. It seemed they were both waiting for admission interviews. Maria asked him the time of his appointment.


‘I’ve come all the way from Devon and my train was early.’ He said. ‘So I’m here well ahead of time.’


Maria was relieved, her anxieties about having to spend even longer waiting to be called in to interview unfounded. As a matter of fact, his company made the time fly by. Very soon she was summoned into the interview.


As she crossed the room, the young man stood up. ‘My name is Ian Plowman.’ He said, ‘I hope to meet you properly next term.’


Three men were sitting in the inner office. Each stood, when Maria entered, shook her by the hand and introduced himself. There was the Dean, the assistant Dean and a University observer. The Dean took control of the interview, inviting the others to ask questions periodically. They enquired into her academic achievements, her family, her interests and the reason she wished to study medicine at St Thomas’. They seemed very interested in her success in the school cross country run, and her explanation of how a young woman of Italian family would want to study in England. Very soon she stopped feeling nervous or threatened, and actually enjoyed the questions, probably because of the courteous and gentle way they probed. When the interview was over she found a telephone and reported to her mother that she thought it had gone well.


It clearly had for, just a few days later, the postman delivered an offer of a place starting the following October, provided she managed reasonable grades in the public exams. She was the first year to do the new A levels, which replaced the Higher School Certificate, so nobody quite knew what to expect.


So, when only about one in three hundred girls went to university, this shy, first generation immigrant Italian won her place at one of the most prestigious medical schools in Britain. At the time more graduates from St Thomas’ were going on to be consultant specialists than from any other medical school in the land.
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1954    St Thomas’ Hospital
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